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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Do investment advisers to hedge funds owe
fiduciary duties to investors in the funds?

Can the offenses of mail and wire fraud be
committed in circumstances where there is no
"gain" of any nature to the defendant nor use
of the mail or wires to cause a person to part
with money or property?

Was it reversible error for the trial court to fail
to give a proper limiting instruction to the jury
in connection with the use at Petitioner’s trial
of transcript testimony from an earlier
deposition?



PARTIES

Petitioner, Mark D. Lay, was defendant in the
trial court. Mr. Lay, a registered investment adviser,
was convicted under federal mail and wire fraud and
investment adviser fraud statutes for losses
experienced by a hedge fund he managed, MDL
Active Duration Fund (hereinafter"ADF"), into which
the Ohio Bureau of Worker’s Compensation
(hereinafter "OBWC") unlawfully invested and lost
$216,000,000.00~. There were no allegations that
Petitioner profited financially or personally benefited
from these losses. This appeal is about losses in the
bond market. There was no theft, embezzlement or
other gain to Petitioner.

Respondent is the United States of America.

~The evidence at trial indicated that OBWC did not obtain
authority to invest into hedge funds until 2004, a point in
time subsequent to the initial investments here. OBWC
invested $100M on August 20, 2003 and a second $100M
on May 21, 2004. Hedge Fund investments were not
approved by the OBWC Oversight Commission until
August 2004.
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No.

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

MARK D. LAY,
PETITIONER

V.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
RESPONDENT.

Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the
United States Court of Appeals

for the Sixth Circuit

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Mark D. Lay respectfully petitions for a writ of

certiorari to review the judgment of the United
States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit in this

case.



OPINIONS BELOW

May 13, 2008 Opinion of United States

district court, Northern District of Ohio

entering judgment on a jury verdict

against Mr. Lay.

July 11, 2008 Amended Judgment of

United States district court, Northern

District of Ohio.

July 14, 2010 Opinion of United States

Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit

affirming district court.

August 25, 2010 Order of United States

Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit

denying rehearing.

JURISDICTION

The judgment of the Sixth Circuit was entered

on July 14, 2010. A Petition for the Rehearing and

Rehearing En Banc was denied on August 25, 2010.



CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY
PROVISIONS INVOLVED

STATUTES CITED TO IN PETITION:

15U.S.C. §80b-6

15U.S.C. §80b’1 et seq.

18U.S.C. §1341

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal arises from an unprecedented and

stunning departure from established judicial

precedent in relation to the regulation and

prosecution of hedge fund investment advisers. The

United States Security and Exchange Commission

has defined a hedge fund as any pooled investment

vehicle that is privately organized, administered by

professional investment managers and not widely

available to the public. See, Staff Report to the

United States Securities and Exchange Commission
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"Implications of the Growth of Hedge Funds

(September 2003/"SEC Staff Report" at p. 3.").

This is an appeal from the conviction and

sentence of Petitioner, Mark D. Lay, an African

American, graduate of Columbia University, relating

to his management of a hedge fund, in which the

Ohio Bureau of Worker’s Compensation (hereinafter

referred to as "Bureau" or "OBWC") was an investor.

Initially, on ,June 14, 2007, the government filed a

four court indictment against Petitioner related to his

involvement and/or his company’s involvement with

the Bureau and investments made by the Bureau

into the MDL Active Duration Fund (hereinafter

referred to as "ADF"), a hedge fund managed by Lay’s

company.

The following factual background details the

specifics of the relationship between Petitioner and

the Bureau. The Bureau or OBWC is an Ohio state

agency that assists employers with expenses related

to workplace injuries by providing medical and

compensation benefits.The Ohio workers’

compensation system is the largest exclusive state

insurance fund in the United States, with assets of

$14 billion and annual insurance premiums and

assessments of $2.3 billion. OBWC exercises

fiduciary authority with respect to the Ohio State



Insurance Fund (OSIF). This fund is held for the

benefit of injured workers and employers of Ohio.

OBWC invested funds into ADF on three discrete

occasions, one hundred million dollars on August 20,

2003, one hundred million dollars on May 21, 2004

and twenty five million dollars on September 23,

2004. These are the only times OBWC "parted" with

property at the behest of Petitioner, that is, it was on

these three discrete occasions when funds left

OBWC’s custodial bank and were transferred to ADF.

Other than these three occasions, OBWC did not part

with money or property in connection with ADF by

reason of any act of Petitioner.

Petitioner founded MDL Capital Management,

Inc., (hereinafter referred to as "MDL") in 1992 and

served as its Chairman, CEO, Principal Shareholder

and Chief Investment Strategist. MDL was

registered with the Securities and Exchange

Commission (hereinafter referred to as the "SEC") as

an investment adviser under the Investment

Adviser’s Act of 1940 hereinafter referred to as ("the

Act").

In May of 1998 Petitioner and the OBWC

entered into an Investment Management Agreement

under which Petitioner would manage the OBWC’s

Long Fund, and also established MDL Capital, as an



investment adviser to OBWC under the Investment

Advisers Act of 1940. OBWC allocated $355 million

of its investment portfolio, referred to as the Long

Fund, for management by MDL. There were no

problems or questions about any conduct with regard

to the Long Fund. It is not the Long Fund investment

that is at issue in this appeal.

In May of 2002, Petitioner established ADF.

ADF was established independently by Petitioner.

OBWC did not finance or underwrite the expenses of

establishing the ADF hedge fund. What is significant

about ADF is that, unlike the Long Fund, as a

portfolio managed by Petitioner for OBWC, ADF

belongs to a class of investments that is exempt from

the SEC regulatory framework applicable to the Long

Fund and investments like it. In the case of the Long

Fund, OBWC’s funds remained in a custodial bank,

Petitioner merely determined how to invest those

funds. In the case of ADF, OBWC actually ~-emoved

funds from its custodial bank and transferred them

to ADF for investment by ADF. OBWC was merely

an investor in ADF. OBWC had not right to control

ADF investment strategy. Petitioner was the

investment adviser to ADF. Petitioner was not an

investment adviser to OBWC as it related to ADF.

For this reason, theories of criminality or even civil

6



liability applicable to Petitioner’s management of

OBWC nonexempt investments are not necessarily

pertinent to exempt investments such as ADF. In the

case of ADF, Petitioner was not OBWC’s investment

adviser, as he was with the Long Fund. In

connection with ADF Petitioner was ADF’s adviser,

OBWC was an investor only.

The regulatory framework respecting hedge

funds acknowledges these truths and therefore

reflects "Congress’s view that certain highly

sophisticated investors, [such as OBWC], do not need

all of the protections of the Investment Company Act

for the reason those Investors are in a position to

appreciate the risks associated with pooled

investment vehicles." See, S. Rep. No. 293, 104th

Cong., 2d Sess. 10 (1996). "Generally, these investors

can evaluate on their own behalf matters such as the

level of a fund’s management fees, governance

provisions, transactions with affiliates, investment

risks, leverage and redemption rights." _/d. (Emphasis

added). By entering into the hedge fund investment

environment, OBWC accepted this risk. The decision

by OBWC to invest in ADF was an overlay strategy.~

2 ADF was part of an overall investment strategy being
pursued by OBWC. It was part of what is called an
"overlay strategy."     An "overlay strategy" is an
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The jury found that Petitioner, in violation of

his fiduciary obligations under the 1940 Act,

committed investment adviser fraud against OBWC

by managing ADF in a manner inconsistent with

leverage guidelines set forth within a private

placement memorandum that outlined the terms and

conditions of the ADF investments (hereinafter the

"PPM"). Specifically, the government alleged that

Mr. Lay exceeded gmidelines set forth within the

pertinent PPM by causing more than 150% of ADF’s

assets to be leveraged in connection with trades

directed by Petitioner. The government alleged that

mailing trade confirmation slips detailing these

trades, although containing no false information, was

mail fraud. As stated above, Petitioner was not an

investment adviser for OBWC as to the ADF hedge

fund. He was investment adviser to ADF. OBWC

was merely an investor in ADF. According to the

relevant PPM:

investment strategy which is "overlaid" on top of existing
strategies, and does not disturb existing investments.
Overlay strategies can take many forms, such as currency
overlays, interest rate overlays, cash management
overlays, and many other types.

8



The Fund is expected to leverage the
Fund’s investment portfolio as a means
to increase yield and enhance total
return. Up to 150% of the Fund’s
assets, at the time of investment, may
be leveraged (~’.e., the combined value of
borrowings and short positions).
Leveraging will include, but is not
limited to, short selling of securities,
reverse repurchase agreements, certain
option and futures transactions plus
any borrowings to leverage the Fund’s
assets. Although the use of leverage
may enhance returns on the Fund’s
portfolio and increase the number of
investments that may be made by the
Fund, it may also substantially increase
the risk of loss. The percentage
included above is intended as a
guideline and may be changed from
time to time at the sole discretion of the
Board of Directors.

PPM at 3. (Emphasis added)

1_=. DURATION AND LEVERAGE

In the context of this appeal the issue of

leverage is central. "Leverage means that the return

on an owner’s equity in a leveraged investment is not

equal to the return on the investment, because the

investment is not financed entirely with the owner’s

9



money. For example, the owners fund may put up $1

billion of their own money, borrow $9 billion, and buy

$10 billion in market v~lue of Treasury bonds. The

owners’ equity (i.e., the net asset value, or "NAV" of

the fund) is $1 billion. One measure of leverage is

the ratio of assets to equity, which is 10 in this

example. Another measure of leverage is the

debt-equity ratio, which is 9 in this example. If the

bonds increase in value by 5%, or $0.5 billion, the

NAV increases by the same amount (ignoring interest

on the borrowing), and the return on equity is 50%

(i.e., $0.5 billion/S1 billion). The 50% increase in

equity could be calculated by multiplying the

asset-equity measure of leverage by the return on the

bonds (i.e., 10 x 5%).

Leverage, it is simple calculation that any

sophisticated investor such as OBWC could calculate

from the reports provided by Petitioner. It quite

simply, is the overall position divided by the actual

value of the position. Another example would be if a

fund had a position of one billion dollars in bonds, but

the portfolio had an actual value of 200 million

dollars, the leverage would be 5 to 1 or 500%.

Leverage will change based on changes to the overall

position or changes in the value of the portfolio.

Leverage is a calculation that changes from second to

10



second as the value of the portfolio changes with

fluctuations in the market. Even if the actual

position does not c.hange, the leverage may change

dramatically based on the market. If the value of the

portfolio increases, the leverage will decrease and to

the contrary if the value of the portfolio decreases,

the portfolio leverage will increase. In the case of

OBWC, the overlay strategy was to protect the

portfolio against higher interest rates. The overlay

strategy is a one way bet. It is not a strategy that

capitalizes on various changes in the market. In this

case, interest rates did not go higher but went lower.

As rates went lower the value of the portfolio went

down thus increasing the leverage substantially. All

changes in leverage are therefore not simply

attributable, as the government argued, to acts of

Petitioner. Leverage may change simply by reason of

market conditions.    Here, the ADF portfolio

continued to lose money as interest rates went lower.

OBWC was aware of this and invested more cash in

May 2004 which decreased leverage in ADF so ADF

could operate. As ADF, an overlay strategy, lost

money, the rest of the OBWC portfolio made money,

thus you get the term "hedge". An overlay strategy is

just a hedge for the rest of the portfolio. OBWC

invested additional capital in ADF on two occasions,

11



after it was known that money had been lost. These

investments are evidence of OBWC’s sophistication

and their ability to determine the value of the ADF

portfolio.

Despite the above, the jury found that Mr. Lay

violated Section 80b-6 of the Act, by repeatedly

exceeding the above leverage guideline. The

superseding Indictment stated by reason of Mr. Lay’s

fraud and deceit upon the OBWC by using leverage

in excess of 150% and not informing OBWC or

gaining its consent, OBWC lost $216,000.000 of its

$225,000,000 ADF investment. Counts 2, 3 and 4 of

which Petitioner was also convicted alleged

conspiracy, wire and mail fraud, and aiding and

abetting offenses based upon Petitioner’s alleged

misrepresentations and nondisclosures relating to

how much leverage had been utilized in connection

with ADF trading. These convictions must be

reversed as a matter of law for the reason Petitioner

was not OBWC’s investment adviser in relation to

ADF, OBWC was a sophisticated investor, and there

was no use of the mail of wires to cause OBWC to

part with money.

12



B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS
The trial for this matter began on October 12,

2007, with the selection of a jury. The trial itself

began on October 15, 2007. The trial concluded with

guilty verdicts returned by the jury on October 30,

2007, to investment advisory fraud, mail and wire

fraud, conspiracy to commit or attempt mail and wire

fraud, and aiding abetting. In addition, the jury

returned a verdict regarding the issue of forfeiture,

finding that the proceeds that were obtained and

subject to forfeiture constituted the sum of

$590,526.23 and $212,967,084.76 in restitution.

Following the conviction, Petitioner was

released on bond pending sentencing. Petitioner filed

a Motion for Acquittal, or in the alternative, a Motion

for a New Trial, on November 13. 2007. After the

government’s response and oral argument on May 5,

2008, the District Court entered a Memorandum

Opinion and Order on May 13, 2008, (R.158) denying

Lay’s motions.

A sentencing hearing was held on July 3, 2008

and July 8, 2008. A judgment was thereafter entered

and on July 9, 2008, Lay was sentenced to 60 months

as to Count 1 and 144 months as to each of counts 2,

3 and 4.

13



Petitioner appealed the decision of the District

Court. Timely appeal was filed in the Sixth Circuit.

REASON FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

THE SIXTH CIRCUITS FAILURE TO FOLLOW
GOLDSTEIN HAS CREATED A CONFLICT

BETWEEN THE COURTS

a. Investment Adviser’s Act and Goldstein

Federal law determines whether a fiduciary

relationship exists in relationships governed by the

Investment Advisor’s Act. Specifically, Section 206 of

that Act governs whether a fiduciary duty is owed

from an investment adviser, or adviser to a ADF

Hedge Fund, to their ’client.’ Go]dstein v. SEC, 451

F. 3d 873, 881 (D.C. Cir. 2006); see also SEC v.

Trab]use, 526 F. Supp.2d 1008 (N.D. Cal.

2007)(stating that with respect to the Investment

Adviser’s Act of 1940, the Securities and Exchange

Commission must show a breach of fiduciary duty to

the fund itself since the adviser owes a duty only to

the fund and not the fund’s investors). Also see, SEC

v. North Shore Asset Management, 2008 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 36160 (S.D. NY May 5, 2008) (SEC can not

bring actions against hedge fund advisers where

14



investments are defrauded). Specifically, "U.S.C.S. §.

80b-1 et seq., makes it unlawful for any investment

adviser, registered or not, to engage in any

transaction, practice, or course of business which

operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or

prospective client." Go]dstein, 451 F.3d at 881.

Additionally, "The United States Supreme Court has

held that 12 U.S.C.S. § 80b-6(2) created a fiduciary

duty of loyalty between an adviser and his client

which required the adviser to disclose self interested

transactions to him." See SECv. Capital Gains

Research Bureau, 375 U.S. 180, 191-92 (1963).

An accurate understanding of the Goldstein

case is pivotal to this appeal. Therein, the D.C.

Circuit court stated that it was "counterintuitive" to

characterize the investors in a ADF Hedge Fund as

the "clients" of the adviser. Goldstein, 451 F.3d at

881. The adviser owes a fiduciary duty only to the

fund itself, not to the fund’s investors. Goldstein

further states that Congress did not intend

"shareholders, limited partners, or beneficiaries" of a

ADF Hedge Fund to be counted as "clients." Id. At

879. Here there was no investment adviser’s

agreement between Petitioner and OBWC as to ADF.

There was a specific exclusive investment adviser’s

15



agreement between ADF and Petitioner of which

OBWC was aware.

The fund manager -- the adviser -- controls the

disposition of the pool of capital in the fund. The

adviser does not tell the investor how to spend his

money; the investor made that decision when he

invested in the fund. ]d. at 880. Having bought into

the fund, the investor fades into the background. [d.

His role has become completely passive..[d. If the

person or entity controlling the fund is not an

"investment adviser" to each individual investor,

then a fortior~" each investor cannot be a "client" of

that person or entity. Id. In Go]dstein, the court

states that the "kind of fiduciary relationship the Act

was designed to regulate is the "type of direct

relationship [that] exists between the adviser and the

fund, but not between the adviser and the investors

in the fund." Id.

The Courts below correctly analyzed and cited

to Goldstein, and recognized that Go]dstein concluded

that "hedge fund investors are not clients of the fund

adviser . . " The Courts also quoted Go]d.gte]n~

analysis pertaining to the structure of hedge fund

relationships.    Prior to the SEC’s new rule

attempting to expand the definition of hedge fund

client, the SEC explained that:

16



"a ’client of an investment adviser
typically is provided with individualized
advice that is based on the client’s
financial situation, and investment
objectives. In contrast, the investment
adviser of an investment company need
not consider the individual needs of the
company’s shareholders when making
investment decisions, and thus has no
obligation to ensure that each security
purchased for the company’s portfolio is
an appropriate investment for each
shareholder."’

(MOO, Doc, #158, p. 28"9)(quoting GoldsteYn, 451

F.3d at 880, quoting Status of Investment Advisor

Programs Under the Investment Company Act of

1940, 62 Fed. Reg. 15, (March 31, 1997)).

The Courts below further correctly quoted

Go]dsteYn’~ holding that "hedge fund investors are

not client’s of the fund’s investment adviser" because

conflicts of interest would be "inevitable" if the

adviser owed a fiduciary duty to "act in the client’s

best interest, and fully disclose material conflicts the

adviser has with his clients, to both the fund and the

fund’s investors." Id. (citing Go]dstein, 451 F.3d at

881).

17



The Sixth Circuit correctly observed that the

Goldstein court struck down the SEC rule defining

ADF Hedge Fund investors as clients because to do so

would manipulate the meaning in that "The

Commission has, in short, not adequately explained

how the relationship between ADF Hedge Fund

investors and advisers justifies treating the former as

clients of the latter." Id. (citing Gold~tein, 451 F.3d

at 882).

Moreover, and truly applicable to the present

appeal, the trial Court recognized that the Goldstei~

court did not accept the SEC’s argument that

different classes of investors should be treated

differently because if there are "certain

characteristics present in certain investor-advisor

relationships that mark a "client" relationship, then

the Commission should have identified those

characteristics and tailored its rule accordingly." Id.

(citing Go]dstein, 451 F.3d at 882-83).

To state it more succinctly, the Circuit Court

itself accepted the Goldstefz~ ruling that an investor

in a hedge fund is not a client of the adviser to the

fund. Moreover, the Circuit specifically stated that

the lack of a fiduciary relationship between the

advisor to the fund and the investors in the fund is

not altered by the facts of a particular case, i.e. as a

18



matter of law, the investors in the fund are not

clients of the fund’s advisor and no fiduciary duty is

owed.

What follows in the District Court’s opinion is

perplexing, to say the least. Directly contrary to its

immediately preceding legal analysis, the District

Court stated that "the facts of Gold~tein... are very

different than the facts of this case." And went on to

find that, based upon the facts of this case, there was

a fiduciary duty owed. The District Court held in

direct opposition to the case law it cited to support its

position. The Sixth Circuit affirmed this erroneous

conclusion.

As admitted by the government and the

District Court the primary governing document that

established the parameters of the business

relationship between Mark Lay, the ADF Hedge

Fund and the Bureau, is the PPM dated January 15,

2003. In that document, it is abundantly clear that

the client was the ADF Hedge Fund, that the Bureau

was an investor in the fund and that "the director’s

principal duty is to act in the best interest of the

Company[,]" i. e., the ADF Hedge Fund. (PPM p. 23).

Undeniably, Mark Lay’s fiduciary responsibilities

here were to the ADF Hedge Fund, not OBWC.

19



As investors, the Bureau was repeatedly

advised and encouraged to seek outside counsel to

evaluate their involvement with the ADF Hedge

Fund. The Bureau was told that they could not reply

upon the advice of Mark Lay and MDL, the advisor to

the ADF Hedge Fund: "The investors [are] not

represented by [the experts to the ADF Hedge Fund.]

Each prospective investor should consult his own

legal, tax and financial advisers regarding . . . the

suitability of an investment in the [Hedge] Fund."

(PPM p. 23). The Bureau is never referred to as a

client in the PPM. Moreover, it is obvious from a

comprehensive reading of the PPM that one of its

primary purposes is to establish the arms length

relationship between inve.~tors in the ADF Hedge

Fund and the advisers to the ADF Hedge Fund.

It is beyond dispute that the Sixth Circuit

erred in failing to find that, as a matter of law, the

Bureau was not the client of MDL as the adviser to

the ADF Hedge Fund. Go]dstein makes is clear that

due to the reality of the ADF Hedge Fund investment

vehicle and the manner in which it must be

administered, it is counterintuitive that the Bureau

was a client.

20



b. Fiduciary Relationship

A fiduciary relationship can only be created

when both parties understand that a special trust or

confidence has been reposed. Asc]~inger ~’. Columbus

S]~owca,~e ~o., 934 F.2d 1402, 1408 (6th Cir. 1991).

Such a relationship cannot be predicated on one

party’s allegedly superior knowledge of the facts of a

particular transaction when the relevant facts are

readily available to both parties. ]d. at 1408.

The PPM repeated, over and over again, that

the investors were to seek outside counsel and advice

from its own financial advisor before even entering

into the agreement as well as when deciding if and

how much to invest in the ADF Hedge Fund.

Moreover, the PPM virtually screams to

potential investors that the ADF Hedge Fund is an

extremely risky investment. Potential investors are

warned, cautioned and advised of all material facts

that may affect their investment, including the risk

that their total investment may be lost. Potential

investors are warned cautioned and advised to seek

outside consultation before choosing to invest. The

PPM states:

There is a high degree of risk associated
with an investment in the Fund and an
investment in the Fund should only be

21



made after consultation with
independent qualified sources of
investment and tax advice.

(PPM, p. 17).

As to risks, the PPM states again, also in all

capital letters:

(PPM,

THE SHARES ARE SPECULATIVE
AND INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF
RISK. THEY ARE SUITABLE ONLY
FOR PERSONS WHO CAN AFFORD
TO LOSE THEIR ENTIRE
INVESTMENT. SHAREHOLDERS
SHOULD READ THE MEMORANDUM
AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
AS WELL AS THE FUND’S
CONTRACTS WITH SERVICE
PROVIDERS WHICH ARE
REFERENCED IN"STATUTORYAND
GENERAL INFORMATION."

p. 24)(emphasis in original).

On September 10, 2008, the SEC amended its

rules for enforcement actions under §80b-6, the

statute under which Mr. Lay was prosecuted, in

response to the opinion in Goldstein v. SEC, 451 F.

3d 873 (D.C. Cir. 2006). While Go]dstein is not

22



binding authority in the Sixth Circuit, the

interpretation of the SEC concerning the operation of

§80b-6 is entitled to great deference from a federal

court. United States v. Mead, 533 U.S. 218 (2001)

and Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources

Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984). The Sixth

Circuit attempted to distinguish Goldstein by stating

it does not stand for the proposition that an investor

may never be the client. This is exactly what

Goldstein says is never possible. In point of fact,

Gold,~tein states:

An investor in a private fund may
benefit from the adviser’s advice (or he
may suffer from it) but he does not
receive the advice directly. He invests a
portion of his assets in the fund. The
fund manager-the advisor-controls the
disposition of the pool of capital in the
fund. The adviser does not tell the
investor how to spend his money; the
investor made that decision when he
invested in the fund. Having bought
into the fund, the investor fades into the
background; his role is completely
passive. If the person or entity
controlling the fund is not an
"investment adviser" to each individual
investor, then a fortior] each investor
cannot be a "client" of that person or
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entity. These are just two sides of the
same coin.

If the investors are owed a fiduciary
duty and the entity is also owed a
fiduciary duty, then the adviser will
inevitably face conflicts of interest.
Consider an investment adviser to a
hedge fund that is bankrupt. His advice
to the fund will likely include any and
all measures to remain solvent. His
advice to an investor in the fund,
however, would likely be to sell. For the
same reason, we do not ordinarily deem
the shareholders in a corporation the
"clients" of the corporation’s lawyers or
accountants, see RESTATEMENT,
supra, §96 cmt. b ("By representing the
organization, a lawyer does not thereby
also form a client-lawyer relationship
with all or any individuals.., who have
an ownership or other beneficial
interest in it, suck as its
shareholders."). While the shareholders
may benefit from the professionals’
counsel indirectly, their individual
interests easily can be drawn into
conflict with the interest of the entity. It
simply cannot be the case that
investment advisers are the servants of
two masters in this way.
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Goldstein, pp. 11-12, 15. (Emphasis in the original

and emphasis added)

Under the Chevron doctrine it was determined

that a federal court should defer to an agency’s

interpretation of a statute if the agency’s

interpretation is reasonable or permissible and the

statute is ambiguous or there is a gap that Congress

intended the agency to fill.

When the Chevron rule is applied here, you

have the SEC revisiting its rules concerning the

reach of §80b-6 in response to an opinion, Go]dstein,

that states unequivocally - hedge fund investors can

never be clients of the investment advisor, and point

two - a point the United States has failed to address,

investment advisors owe no fiduciary duties to hedge

fund investors. In point of fact, SEC FL. Release No.

IA-2628; File No 57-25-06 states in p. 13:"206(4)-8

does not create under the Advisors Act a fiduciary

duty to investors or prospective investors in a pooled

investment vehicle not otherwise imposed by law."

Goldstein stated unequivocally, prior to passage of

this new rule, that advisors did not owe investors any

fiduciary duties. As such there were no other

fiduciary duties imposed by law.

Here, the prosecution under §80b(6)(1) and (2)

depended on a requirement to find the OBWC was
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Petitioner’s client, in relation not the ADF, a status

that was determined as a matter of law in Go]dstein

not to exist. The prosecution under §80b-6(4), the

catchall, depended on a requirement that the jury

find that Petitioner was an investment adviser to

OBWC and owed fiduciary duties to the OBWC in

relation to the ADF, duties which Go]d,~tein stated

that advisors do not o~ve. The SEC rule was amended

to clarify that a new provision Rule 206(4)-8 would

delineate that conduct required under §80b-6 as it

relates to investors or prospective investors. Section

80b-6 in its entirety is only applicable to investment

advisers in relation not the relevant investment here,

ADF, Petitioner ~vas not OBWC’s adviser, so 80b-6

has no applicability at all.

ADF had a separate and distinct relationship

with Petitioner. There is some question whether

OBWC was even authorized to invest into ADF or

any other hedge fund. The OBWC policy authorizing

alternative investments was not approved until 2004,

after the initial investments here.

ADF was intended to receive the investment of

the OBWC and potentially other investors as well.

The fact the OBWC ended up as the sole investor in

ADF, does not change OBWC’s status as merely an

investor.
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It was common knowledge now and at the time

this fund was created that a hedge fund is a high risk

investment vehicle. That is why it is limited to

sophisticated investors. Concomitant with the

potential for high gains is the risk of substantial

losses, including the total loss of the investment.

(PPM p. 24). It is for this reason that a different set

of rules and regulations apply to hedge funds. These

rules and risks were fully described and outlined in

the PPM, the documentation that governed the

subject of ADF Hedge Fund and that delineated the

terms of the agreement between the OBWC, the ADF

Hedge Fund, MDL and Mark Lay. By entering into

the agreement, OBWC accepted these terms and

these risks. Pursuant to the agreement, OBWC chose

to accept the lack of fiduciary relationship and the

risks and potential for a total loss of its investment

due to unforeseen volatility of the market.

1.    ADF Hedge Fund Established as
the Client of MDL and OBWC
Established as an investor in the ADF
Hedge Fund: Fiduciary Duty Owed to
the ADF Hedge Fund as a Whole and
Did Not Extend to Individual Investors.
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OBWC specifically, unambiguously and

unequivocally accepted that the ADF Hedge Fund

was the client of MDL. OBWC accepted that it was

an llnvestoronly in the ADF Hedge Fund, and that it

was not a c]ient of Mark Lay with respect to the ADF

Hedge Fund. (PPM, p. 18). An investor in an ADF

Hedge Fund is not the same thing as a client of the

ADF Hedge Fund. Mark Lay’s obligation with respect

to the ADF Hedge Fund was to make investments

that profited the fund, not the individual investors in

the ADF Hedge Fund. (PPM, p. 18)

That OBWC is an investor in the ADF Hedge

Fund and not a client is reiterated throughout the

PPM. Any investor in the ADF Hedge Fund,

including the OBWC, was advised to seek outside

advice and counsel before entering into the

agreement. Potential investors were specifically told

not to rely upon the investment adviser to the ADF

Hedge Fund, MDL, nor the ADF Hedge Fund’s or

Investment Adviser’s experts, but were to seek their

own investment advice and their own independent

expert advice. The Sixth Circuit Opinion creates a

relationship that was expressly negated by the

relevant transaction documents.
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Several specific examples of this exist in the

PPM. At the outset of the PPM, it is stated, in all

capital letters:

PROSPECTIVE    SUBSCRIBERS    IN
THE FUND SHOULD INFORM
THEMSELVES AS TO THE LEGAL
REQUIREMENTS AND TAX
CONSEQUENCES    WITHIN    THE
COUNTRIES OF THEIR RESIDENCE
AND DOMICILE FOR THE
ACQUISITION,     HOLDING     OR
DISPOSAL OF SHARES AND ANY
FOREIGN EXCHANGE
REGISTRATIONSWHICH MAY BE
RELEVANT TO THEM. IF YOU ARE
IN ANY DOUBT ABOUT THE
CONTENTS OF THIS
MEMORANDUM, YOU SHOULD
CONSULT YOUR STOCKBROKER,
SOLICITOR, ACCOUNTANT OR
OTHER FINANCIAL ADVISER.

(PPM, p o ii).

In the body of the PPM, it is stated:

Lack of In depen den t Experts
Representing Investors. The Fund and
the Investment Adviser have each
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consulted with counsel, accountants and
other experts regarding the formation
and terms of the Fund and the Advisory
Agreement. The investors, however,
have not been represented by such
independent experts. Each prospective
investor should consult his own legal,
tax and financial advisers regarding the
desirability of purchasing shares and
the suitability of an investment in the
Fund. Foley and Lardner and Appelby,
Spurling & Kempe are a U.S. and
Bermuda counsel to the Fund,
respectively, and do not represent the
prospective investors or shareholders of
the Fund.

(PPM, p. 23). (emphasis in the original).

Also stated clearly and unambiguously was

that the ADF Hedge Fund would be managed by a

Board of Directors, which would have absolute

discretion as to when and how to invest. The Board

consisted of Mark. D. Lay, Steven L. Sanders, and

Edward Adatepe, who were the principals of MDL

and Oskar P. Lewnowski and Raymond Morrison of

Olympia Capital International Inc., which was the

Fund’s administrator (PPM, p. 18). The PPM further

states that the investments made on behalf of the
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ADF Hedge Fund would be determined by the Board

and that "The Investment Adviser, in its sole and
absolute discretion and authority as an investment

adviser to the fund will ultimately identify and select

investments for the Fund." (PPM, p. iv). (Emphasis in

the original).

Percentage of Assets Permitted
to be Leveraged Within Sole
Discretion of Hedge Fund Board
of Directors.

A highly critical fact to appreciate for this

appeal is the percentage of assets the OBWC agreed

that the ADF Hedge Fund Board and Mark Lay could

leverage. The PPM, the primary governing document

for the agreement between the OBWC and MDL,

states that the leverage g~zide]ineis up to 150% of the

Fund’s assets at the time of investment. (PPM, p. 3).

This figure is a ~gu]de]ine: It is not a limitation and it

is not a prohibition, it is a "guideline".’~

:~Note in the case of Long Term Capital Management, a
100 billion dollar hedge fund established in 1994 by John
Meriwether Vice Chair, now a head of bond trading at
Saloman Brothers, at the time of the 1998 collapse the
funds assets had been over leveraged 250-1. LTCM’s
collapse threatened the stability of the entire American
market. There were no criminal prosecutions. See,
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It is indisputable that the PPM grants the

Board of Directors absolute and sole discretion to

exceed the guideline when it determines that it is in

the best interest of the ADF Hedge Fund to do so.

This fact is acknowledged by Terry Gasper, the Chief

Financial Officer of the OBWC. Terry Gasper

testified that he understood the PPM to give the

Board of Directors the sole discretion to change the

guideline, and that they could do so at any time,

without notice. (Testimony T.C. Gasper, Doc. #102,

pp. 134-135). In addition, the PPM, which was signed

by the officers of the OBWC, states:

The percentage included above is
intended as a guideline as may be
changed from time to time at the sole
discretion of the Board of Directors.

(PPM, p. 3). (emphasis added)

The grant of authority to Mark Lay, as to the

ADF Hedge Fund, could not be clearer.

3. Risk Factors and all Relevant Facts

Explained and Agreed Upon By OBWC

Lowenstein, Roger (2000) "When Genius Failed: The Rise
and Fall of Long-Term Capital Management ......, Random
House.
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In the PPM, MDL went to great lengths to

explain the risk factors of the ADF Hedge Fund in

unambiguous terms. For example, at the very

beginning of the PPM it is stated in bold capital

letters:

THE PURCHASE OF SHARES IS
SPECULATIVE AND INVOLVES A
HIGH DEGREE OF RISK, THERE IS
NO ASSURANCE THAT THE FUND
WILL BE PROFITABLE. SEE THE
SECTION ENTITLED "RISK
FACTORS" WITHIN THIS
MEMORANDUM FOR A
DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN RISKS
INVOLVED IN THE PURCHASE OF
SHARES.

(PPM, p. iii) (Emphasis in the original).

Specifically as to the risks of leverage, the

PPM states that is the 150% guideline is not enough

to cover a decline in value, additional collateral may

be required:

Risks of Leverage. If the Fund’s assets
decline in value or there are significant
redemptions from the Fund, the Fund
may be required to post additional
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collateral with the lender or liquidate
assets to pay off its borrowings.
Moreover, if the assets under
management are not sufficient to pay
the principal of and interest on the debt
when due, the Fund could sustain a
total loss of its investment.

(PPM, p. 19).
It is important to reiterate here that the PPM
was ambiguous that:

The percentage included above is
intended as a guideline and may be
changed from time to time at the sole
discretion of the Board of Directors.

(PPM, p. 3). (Emphasis added.)

The PPM further makes clear to those who

chose to invest in the ADF hedge Fund that there is

a potential for conflicts of interests to arise between

the fund and other c]ients ofMDL. (PPM, p. 16). By

agreeing to the terms of the PPM, the investors in the

ADF Hedge Fund accepted the potential that the

investment adviser may engage in transactions or

investments for its own account or the account of any

other client, that may not benefit the ADF Hedge
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Fund, but if they do so invest, it shall be in good faith

and on a fair and equitable basis. (PPM, p. 17).

The OBWC anticipated, as did many others,

that if long term interest rates had increased in

2003-2004, the ADF Hedge Fund would have been

highly successful. However, long term interest rates

did not rise and losses were sustained due to the

unexpected events in the markets. There was

absolutely no gain to Mr. Lay.

In Go]dstein, the Court discussed at length the

distinction between an investor and a client in the

context of hedge funds. "At best it is counterintuitive

to characterize the investors in a hedge fund as the

client of the adviser’s. ]d at 883. Citing Am. Bar

~4ss’~ v. FT~, 368 U.S. App. D.C. 368, 430 F.3d 457

(D.C. Cir. 2005). (Emphasis added.)

The Sixth Circuit Opinion does exactly what

Go]dstein points out as counterintuitive, states

contrary to Go]dstein’~ prohibition, that an

investment advisor may indeed serve two masters,

the investor and the client.

c. Wire Fraud and Mail Fraud

The evidence did not establish that Mr. Lay

was guilty of either mail or wire fraud, aiding and

abetting, or a conspiracy to commit either. This
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assertion is true as a matter or law, for the reason

there was no evidence at all that money or property

was obtained through a material misrepresentation

or that the mail or wires were used in furtherance of

a scheme to obtain money or property. OBWC parted

with property voluntarily on three occasions, when it

invested in ADF, not when the trades directed by

Petitioner occurred. This is a fatal defect in this

prosecution.

The Sixth Circuit has stated: "mail fraud

cases may be used to analyze wire fraud cases."

United ,~tates v. Daniel, 329 F.3d 480, 487 (6th Cir.

2003).

The Supreme Court construed the
statute to "include[el everything
designed to defraud by representations
as to the [’15] past or present, or
suggestions and promises as to the
future." Neder, 527 U.S. at 24 (quoting
Durland,    161 U.~. at 313).
Accordingly, the Court held that
materiality of falsehood is an element of
the federal mail fraud, wire fraud, and
bank fraud statutes. Neder, 522 U.S.
at 25.

In general, a false statement "is
material if it has ’a natural tendency to
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influence, or [is] capable of influencing,
the decision of the decision-making body
to which it was addressed."’ Id. at 16
(quoting United CUrates v. Gauding, 515
U.S. 506, 509, 115 S. Ct. 2310, 132
L.Ed. 2d 444 (1995)). The
misrepresentation or omission must
have th purpose of inducing the victim
of the fraud to part with property or
undertake some action that he would
not otherwise do absent the
misrepresentation or omission. United
States v. Daniel, 329 F. 3d 480, 487 (6
Cir. 2003).

United States v. Birnie, 193 Fed Appx. 528, 534, (6th

Cir.2003).

First with respect to materiality, "It is clear

that as an element of the "scheme or artifice to

defraud "requirement, the government must prove

that the defendant said something materially false."

Daniel at 486. There was no evidence of Mr. Lay

uttering a false statement related to ADF that caused

OBWC to part with money and sending it by wire or

mail.

Here the government alluded on pp. 13-16 in

the Superseding Indictment to trade confirmation

statements. These confirmation statements do not

contain false information. What’s more, in cases
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where mailing trade confirmation statements

constituted a violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341, the

statements were transmitted for the purposes of

executing the artifice or scheme. See, United States

v. Marando, 504 F.2d 126(2d Cir. 1974) where trade

confirmation slips were mailed and determined to be

an integral part of a scheme to obtain property; also

see, United State~ v. Grossman, 843 F.2d 78 (2d. Cir.

1988) where it was determined that:

The mailings of the confirmation slips
did further the purpose of executing the
scheme. The confirmation slips (1)
notified the relatives that the purchase
or sale actually had been completed; (2)
provided an on’going tally of purchases,
allowing the relatives to cover each
other’s positions; (3) concealed the fraud
by maintaining an appearance of
normality, see United State~ v. Cohen,
518 l+:2d 727, 737 (2 Cir.), cert. denied,
423 U.S. 926, 46 L. Ed. 2d 252 (1975).
and (4) allowed the relatives to
demonstrate ownership after the
recapitalization announcement. Pereira
v. United States, 346 U.S. 1, 98 L. Ed.
4,’35, 74 S. Ct. 358 (1954). [**27]

To establish a violation of the mail fraud

statute, "the mailing must be for the purposes of

executing the scheme." United States v. Maze, 414
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U.S. 395 (1974). To state an offense under 18 U.S.C.

§ 1341 the Supreme Court determined in C]eve&nd ~.

United States, 531 U.S. 12 (2000) that the

Indictment must allege that the defendant not only

devised a scheme or artifice, but also used that

scheme or artifice to obtain money or property. See,

United States v.Ma]es, 459 F. 3d 154 (2d Cir. 2006)

(Emphasis added). Here the Indictment states ADF

received its first $100,000,000.00 before Mr. Lay ever

executed a trade. At best the allegations here

establish that having lawfully obtained property, Mr.

Lay abused the property by investing it in a manner

inconsistent with PPM guidelines. The mail was not

used to obtain money or property here. There are no

facts alleged that indicate that property or money

was obtained through a scheme that involved a use of

the mail. The trade confirmation slips here unlike in

Grossman or Mirando did not contain false
information, did not document illegal insider trades,

and were not transmitted to obtain money or

property. The alleged nondisclosures and

misrepresentations concerning leverage alleged in

the Indictment are not related to the mailing of

confirmation slips. The trades reflected on the listed

slips were lawful trades for a hedge fund. It does not

matter that OBWC did not authorize them, the PPM
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gave ADF’s board sole discretion to deviate from the

leverage guideline not OBWC.The trade
confirmation statements report the purchases of

bonds on a certain date, from a certain broker, at a

certain price. All of this information is true. On

these facts a violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341 was not

established.

If the jury believed that the scheme or artifice

to defraud was the initiation of trades by Mr. Lay

utilizing excess leverage, employing excess leverage

is not a misrepresentation for the purpose of inducing

a victim to part with property. The facts here

establish OBWC invested funds in ADF on three

discrete dates, August 20, 2003, May 21, 2004 and

September 23, 2004. These are the only times OBWC

"parted" with property. The Indictment does not

focus on these events. This is contrary to well

established Sixth Circuit authority. In point of fact:

"Mail fraud consists of (1) a scheme or
artifice to defraud; (2) use of mails in
furtherance of the scheme; and (3)
intent to deprive the victim of money or
property." UnitodStates v. Turner, 465
F.3d 66"7, 680 (6th Cir. 2006).
Materiality of falsehood is a requisite
element of mail fraud. Neder v. Unitod
States, 527 U.~. 1. 25, 119~. Ct. 1827,
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144 L. Ed. 2d 35    (1999) The

misrepresentation "must havethe
purpose of inducing [*7} the victim of
the fraud to part with the property or
undertake some action that he would
not otherwise do absent the
misrepresentation or omission." United
States v. Danic,], 329, F.3d 480, 487 (6th
Cir. 2003). A misrepresentation "is
material if it has a natural tendency to
influence, or is capable of influencing,
the decision of the decision-making bod7
to which it was addressed." Neder, 527
U.S. at 16 (internal citation and
quotation marks omitted).

McCa ulif£ supra.

There was no evidence here that the OBWC

parted with property by reason of a material

misrepresentation.

The mail fraud stated "does not purport
to reach all frauds, but only those
limited instances in which the use of
the mails is part of the execution of the
fraud." Kann v. UnitedStates, 323 U.S.
88, 95, 89 L.Ed. 88, 65 S. Ct. 148 (1944).
Accordingly, the government must show
beyond a reasonable doubt that
[defendant] caused the mailings listed
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in the indictment to be sent and that
the mailings were in furtherance of the
fraud.

United States v. Pimenta], 236 F. Supp. 2d 99 (D.C.

Mass 2002).

Here there was no proof of any mailings in

further of a scheme to exceed leverage or that the

OBWC parted with money due to a mailing. The

same deficit applies to Counts 3 and 4.

d. The Sixth Circuit Failed To Follow Skilling

Aside from the above, on June 24, 2010, the

United States Supreme Court in 5~kil]in~ v. United

State.s, 561 U.S. ____ (2010), No. 08-1394,

announced a seismic shift in mail fraud prosecutions.

The Sixth Circuit totally ignored the ~ki]]ingopinion.

The Ski]ling opinion highlights what the

government’s burden of proof is in a prosecution

under 28 U.S.C. § 1341 for mail fraud, one of the

offenses that Mr. Lay is charged with here. ,~ki]]ing

makes it clear that an essential element in a mail

fraud prosecution is evidence of some form of gain or

enrichment to the defendant. In point of fact, Ski]ling

states:

Enacted in 1872, the original mail-fraud
provision, the predecessor of the
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modern-day mail" and wire-fraud laws,
proscribed, without further elaboration,
use of the mails to advance ’any scheme
or artifice to defraud.’ See, McN~]]y v.
United State’s, 483 U. S. 350, 356
(1987). In 1909, Congress amended the
statute to prohibit, as it does today, ’any
scheme or artifice to defraud, or for
obtaining money or property by means
of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises.’ §1341
(emphasis added); see id., at 357-358.
Emphasizing Congress’ disjunctive
phrasing, the Courts of Appeals, one
after the other, interpreted the term
"scheme or artifice to defraud" to
include deprivations not only of money
or property, but also of intangible
rights.

ld. (emphasis added) Skilling goes on to discuss the

elements of a honest services fraud claim versus

other frauds. The Court focuses on the requirement

for symmetry, in a standard mail fraud case, that is

"the victim’s loss of money or property supplied the

defendant’s gain, with one the mirror image of the

other.’ ld.

In this case it is undisputed that Petitioner did

not realize any gain as a result of an alleged misuse

of the mails. The victim, the Ohio Bureau of Workers
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Compensation (OBWC), losses were due to

unsuccessful attempts by Petitioner to recoup losses

through increased use of leverage. In some instances

gains resulted from the use of increased leverage. In

other instances losses occurred from its use. In no

instance, however, did Petitioner realize any money

or property from the use of allegedly excessive

leverage. In most instances leverage changed due to

market fluctuations, not Petitioner’s acts.

Petitioner received no compensation from

OBWC by reason of trading activity or volume. All of

Petitioner’s fees were paid by the Active Duration

Fund (ADF), not the OBWC. Mr. Lay received no

compensation from OBWC for ADF trades or

managing OBWC funds.

The absence of any gain of any nature by a

defendant is fatal to a mail fraud prosecution.

~killing emphasizes this point.

The use of excessive leverage was not a scheme

to defraud. It was an investment strategy that failed.

The purpose and intent of the strategy was not of a

nature that will support a mail fraud prosecution.

See, SMiling (citing, United States v. Bloom, 149 F.

3d. 649, 655 (7th Cir. 1998) and United States v.

Pana2vlla, 277 F.3d 678, 692 (3rd Cir. 2002) (requires

that a defendant act in pursuit of private gain)).

44



Skilling determined that a 28 U.S.C. § 1346

prosecution requires as "offense conduct" evidence of

either bribery or kickbacks and that the ambit of a

criminal statute should be resolved in favor of lenity.

Rewis v. United States, 401 U.S. 808 (1971). The

"offense conduct" in Petitioner’s case, a 28 U.S.C. §

1341 prosecution, according to S~’i]]ing, the conduct

must include an element of gain at the expense of a

victim, here OBWC.

In this case the gain element is totally lacking.

In point of fact, the District Court states at p. 23 of

Petitioner’s sentencing memorandum. Case no. 1:07

CR-00339- DOD:

As the Court undertakes a study as to
the seriousness of the offense and the
need to impose the sentence that
promotes respect for the law and
provides just punishment ibr the
defendant’s conduct, the defendant’s
sentencing memorandum reviewing the
defendant’s past history including his
past business, is relevant. The
defendant recites the fact that he
opened his business known as MDL
Capital in 1994 beginning only with a
telephone and receptionist and built the
business into a highly successful
venture, employing over 40 people. His
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counsel contends that he ’became one of
the nations better recognized financial
commentators, appearing regularly on
MSNBC and on business related shows.
His opinions were reflected frequently
in the Wall Street Journal. He was
selected as the Entrepreneur of the
Year in Pittsburg by the accounting
firm of Ernst & Young.’ Continuing, his
counsel recite the fact that the Long
Fund (or the Core Fund) made money
as did the state of Ohio generally. His
counsel contend ’the fact is that the
circumstances of the market developed
in a way never before experienced.
Looking back in hindsight, as the Court
can do, it seems obvious that he should
have stopped following the investment
strategy he had in place. But at the
time, no one had ever seen a~ instance
in which rising bond prices would not
lead to a devaluation of existing bonds.
But that is precisely what happened in
this time frame. It was the t~rst time in
economic hi.story of the United States
that that occurred, and his strategy
failed, and because of the leverage,
failed dramatically.’

It seems apparent that the defendant
had not lost any monies for any clients
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in the management of the MDL
investments until the defendant began
excessive over-leveraging with the ADF.
It appears from his past experiences
with Mellon Bank and PNC that it was
not the first time defendant took great
risks in the belief that he could recoup
his losses. The Court notes that the
defendant, born in 1963, actively
pursued a good education and did not
demonstrate criminal tendencies. The
defendant has no criminal record. The
defendant appears to have been a
responsible father. It does not appear to
the Court that the dofendant was
motivated to gain more income by his
management of the

Id. (emphasis added)

As the District Judge indicated, there was no

evidence whatsoever that the mails were used by

Petitioner in any ~cheme to defraud another or to

generate gain for Mr. Lay. Sk~’]]~’ngmakes it clear the

absence of this element is fatal to a mail fraud

prosecution. The mailing of trade confirmation slips

by third parties that document specific transactions,

did not result in any gain or benefit to Mr. Lay.

Aside from the clarification provided by

~k]]]ing in relation to mail fraud prosecutions,

Skilling also explains that Constitutional error occurs
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where a jury is instructed on alternative theories of

guilt and returns a general verdict that may rest on

a legally invalid theory.

In this case, the jury was instructed in

connection with each of the four counts on alternative

theories of liability. In each instance here, the jury

was permitted to find that Petitioner was an

investment adviser without any requirement to also

determine whether he was an investment adviser to

the alleged victim, or whether the victim was an

investor as distinguished from Mr. Lay’s client. The

jury was also permitted to determine that the OBWC

was Petitioner’s client, a determination which

Go]dstefl~ v. S]z’C, 451 F.3d 873 (D.C. Cir. 2006)

states, is a determination for the Court, not for the

jury.

e. Limiting Instructions

Following the reading Petitioner’s civil

deposition testimony to the jury, the district court

refused to give the proper limiting instruction

specifically required in United States v. Marvin

Smith 419 F. 3d 521 (6t~’ Cir. 2005) that cautioned the

jury not to place too much emphasis on the testimony

or take it out of context. The district court only

advised the jury not place too much emphasis on the

testimony. The Sixth Circuit specifically requires a
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two pronged caution, not the single prong given by

the Court. The prejudice to Petitioner is palpable for

the reason this instruction concerns the

client-investor dichotomy. The district court’s failure

to give the two pronged instructions permitted the

jury to take Petitioner’s testimony out of context.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court of Appeals

should be reversed and Petitioner’s conviction

vacated.

November 23, 2010
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